Title Page:

Intervals of 12 months and 36-96 months are Non-Inferior to 6 months in HPV16/18 Antibody Response: Findings of a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Two-Dose HPV Vaccine Schedules with Intervals of Six Months or Longer

Student: Aneisha Collins-Fairclough Supervisor: Bohdan Nosyk

Review Team Members: Robine Donken, Manish Sadarangani, Gina Ogilvie

Table of Contents

Abstract
List of Abbreviations
Introduction to the Public Health Problem
Purpose of the Paper
Review Question11
Objectives11
Critical Review of Relevant Literature12
HPV Vaccines and Basis of Protection (Immune Response)12
Evolution of HPV Vaccine Schedules13
Vaccine Schedule as a Moderator of Immune Response15
Methods
Literature search and study selection17
Data Extraction and Analyses18
<i>Results</i>
Description of Included Studies20
Risk of Bias Analysis24
Synthesis of Outcomes27
Discussion
Immunogenicity
Efficacy and Effectiveness37
Strengths and Limitations38
Implications and Recommendations for Public Health Practice
Conclusion
References
APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Ovid Medline Search Strategy49
Appendix 2a: Risk of Bias Assessment for Gilca et al 201950
Appendix 2b: Risk of Bias Assessment for Lamb et al 201751
Appendix 3: Table of GRADE assessment of the evidence in this systematic review52
Appendix 4: Tables summarizing data used and relative effect measures generated55
Appendix 5: References for Publications Included in Systematic Review

Abstract

Human Papillomaviruses can cause cancer of multiple human anatomical sites, with essentially all cervical cancer cases worldwide being attributable to persistent HPV infections. HPV vaccination provides effective protection against HPV infections. An estimated 90% of cervical cancer cases occur in low and middle incomes, but only 20% of these countries have implemented HPV vaccination. In contrast, 82% of high income countries have included HPVV in their national vaccination programs. Current HPV vaccination schedules which recommend administering multiple doses within six months can be logistically challenging for both low- and middle-income as well as high-income countries. The ongoing global shortage of HPV vaccines that is expected to last until 2024 is an additional challenge. There are suggestions to extend the two dose 0.6 months schedule for the primary target population (females 9-14 years) to longer intervals, even up to 3-5 years, to ease logistics and relieve demand in the short-term. Interval extension however, requires evidence to support whether it will be beneficial. This paper reports findings of a systematic review of available studies, that compares the immunogenicity, efficacy and effectiveness of two-dose schedules of 7 or more months between doses with schedules of 6 months between doses. We found, similar to a previous systematic review, that increasing the two-dose interval from 6 months to 12 months resulted in non-inferior immunogenicity. Also an increase of the dose-interval from 6 months to 36-96 months, results in non-inferior antibody response to HPV6 and high risk HPV types 16 and 18, but not HPV11, based on data from an observational study. The effect of an interval of 8 or more months compared to an interval of 4-7 months on AGW incidence was inconclusive and no studies were available to assess efficacy or effectiveness against HPV infections or cancers. This highlights the acute scarcity of evidence necessary to evaluate two-dose schedules with intervals longer than 6 months. Nevertheless, our

non-inferiority findings indicate that a schedule with a 12 month interval can be adopted in lieu of one with a 6 month interval. However, even though the 36-96 month interval is indicated to be no worse than a 6 month interval in antibody response to HPV 16 and 18, the low certainty of the estimates derived from it, requires that it be studied further to confirm its effect on immunogenicity.

List of Abbreviations

AGW	Anogenital wart
ATTP	According to protocol population
CI	Confidence interval
CIN	Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia
cLIA	competitive Luminex ImmunoAssay
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay
GMC/T	Geometric mean concentration or titer
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment Development and Evaluation
HPV	Human Papillomavirus
hrHPV	high risk Human Papillomavirus
HPVV	Human Papillomavirus vaccines
PBNA	Pseudovirion Based Neutralisation Assay
RCT	Randomised control trial

WHO World Health Organisation

Introduction to the Public Health Problem

The Human Papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection globally_{1,2} and the leading viral cause of cancers worldwide_{3,4}. HPV is a risk factor for multiple cancers, accounting for an estimated 29.5% of infection-related cancers worldwide₄ and an even greater proportion (54%) of infection-related cancers in Canadas. There are over 100 genetic types of HPV, of which 14 are qualified as high-risk HPV (hrHPV) types based on their oncogenic potential. Persistent infection with HPV types 16 and 18 are associated with over 70% of cervical cancer cases, and together with HPV types 31, 33, 45, 52, 58, account for approximately 90% of cancers of the cervix₃. HPV infections are also associated with non-cervical cancers, including anal, penile, vaginal, vulvar and oropharyngeal cancers_{2,3,5}. HPV types 6 and 11 are low-risk HPV types, however they cause over 90% of ano-genital warts (AGWs)_{2,6}. Although non-malignant, AGWs can cause discomfort, negative psychosocial effects and substantial direct treatment costs in many populations₇₋₁₁.

Women bear a predominant share of the global HPV-related cancer burden, due to cervical cancer having the highest prevalence and mortality of all HPV-related cancers_{2,3}. In 2018, all 570,000 new cervical cancer cases worldwide were attributable to HPV infection₃. HPV-related cancer burden is greatest for women in developing and least developed countries (human development index <0.8) with approximately 88% cervical cancer deaths occurring among women in these countries₁₂.

HPV vaccines (HPVVs) have delivered significant reductions in HPV infections and associated morbidities in countries that have implemented HPV vaccination programs_{13–16}. Meta-analysis of data from fourteen such high-income countries showed that after 5-9 years of HPV vaccination, these countries achieved significant reductions in the prevalence of hrHPV types 16, 18, 31, 33

and 45 among women. Highest reductions between the pre-vaccination and post-vaccination periods in these countries were seen for younger women 13-18 years, with the prevalence of HPV16 and 18 reduced by as much as 83%14. Significant reductions in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or higher (CIN2+; a pre-invasive pre-cursor to cervical cancer) and AGWs were also seen. These effects were greatest among women 15-19 years (51% reduction for CIN2+ and 67% reduction of AGWs)14. With vaccinated females being protected against HPV infection, males were less likely to be exposed to the virus during female sexual contact. The population level benefits of HPV vaccination among women were therefore extended to males through herd effects. This was observed as significant decreases in AGW diagnoses among men 15-24 years, with estimates of reduction as high as 48% among men 15-19 years14.

Despite the reduction in HPV disease burdens realized in high income countries, cervical cancer remains a global public health priority. This is due to unacceptably high current and forecasted cervical cancer incidence in lesser resourced nations, particularly the world's poorest17. Higher cervical cancers in poorer countries results from inadequate cervical cancer prevention programs for screening and effective treatment of cervical cancer precursor lesions18,19. The proven effectiveness of HPV vaccination in reducing HPV infections led to its inclusion as an essential component in the World Health Organization's (WHO) Global Strategy Towards the Elimination of Cervical Cancer as a Public Health Problem. This Global Strategy outlines 2030 country-level targets for primary, secondary and tertiary prevention through vaccinated against HPV by age 15; 70% of women receiving high-precision HPV screening at ages 35 and 45 years; and 90% of women identified with cervical cancer receiving treatment and care. The achievement of these

targets by each country is proposed to enable a reduction in cervical cancer incidence to less than 4 per 100,000 women-years within the twenty-first century₁₇.

There are, however, challenges to achieving the primary prevention target using HPVVs with multi-dose schedules that require two or sometimes three visits within one year. Such schedules can be challenging for vaccine delivery mechanisms. For example, school-based delivery of two or three doses within six months, as done in provinces across Canada20 and in many high-income countries, require health-care professionals to make multiple visits to schools within a single school year. Another factor that operates at the global macro level, is socioeconomic disparity that contributes to inequities in access. This is apparent as HPV vaccination has been implemented in 84% of high-income countries but only 31% and 12% of middle and low-income countries, respectively₂₁. Further, projections show that current production capacities of HPVVs are well below the volumes required to achieve vaccination coverage required by the WHO's Global Strategy21,22. Within countries, expanding vaccination coverage is also impeded by additional contextual social, personal and health system factors23-26. Considering the myriad of interacting factors, the Global Strategy promoted by the WHO has also called for research to simplify HPVV schedules and "achieve the same population impact at a lower cost"21. One way to achieve this simplification is to increase the interval between doses. For immunocompetent children 9-14 years, the preferred recommended schedule for administering the HPVV is two doses, spaced at an interval of 6 months. Although a six-month interval is favoured, the WHO indicates that with the absence of evidence of the maximum interval between doses where the vaccine remains effective, intervals of 12-15 months are also acceptable6. If these two doses could be administered later, even longer than 12-15 months apart, then vaccine doses needed per year could be substantially reduced, at least until supply capacity can meet demand. Further logistical arrangements to deliver the two

doses within 6-15 months could be reduced. Longer intervals would also more readily facilitate co-administration of HPVV with other vaccines required by the primary target group (girls 9-14 years). A recent systematic review using relevant studies available up to September 2018, Bergman et al found that longer intervals for two-dose schedules provided stronger antibody response than shorter intervals. This was based on studies comparing an extension of the two-dose interval from 2 to 6 months, and also from 6 to 12 months₂₇. Improved antibody response of a six-months interval relative to a two-months interval between doses for two-dose schedules was already well established in females 9-14 years. It is unclear however, if the trend of increasing antibody response with interval length extends to intervals beyond twelve months. In consideration of the HPVV shortage the WHO Strategic Advisory Group of Experts (SAGE) on Immunization suggested that spacing two doses at intervals of 3-5 years could be considered, but would constitute "off-label" use of the vaccines₂₈. A synthesis of evidence from the current body of knowledge, that includes two-dose intervals beyond 12 months could provide timely insights on the potential of such extended-dose schedules to effective. Further, Bergman et al 202014 did not examine the effect of extended intervals on cell-based immune responses or HPV-related diseases. This paper therefore extends upon the work of Bergman et al 2020, by comparing the effect of using dosing intervals beyond seven months on humoral and cellular immunogenicity, as well as effectiveness of HPVVs. This will provide additional insights relevant to optimizing HPVV schedules.

Purpose of the Paper

Vaccination is a highly effective strategy for primary prevention of HPV infection, cervical cancer precursors and other HPV-related diseases. Despite the demonstrated effectiveness of HPVVs, their population-level impact has not been maximized₂₉, largely due to limited access in lower income countries resulting from financial constraints, as well as suboptimal vaccine coverage and compliance with multi-dose vaccine schedules globally_{30,31}. Optimizing vaccination schedules is necessary for the success of vaccination programs and the elimination of cervical cancer. The number of vaccine doses and their spacing are critical features of the vaccination schedule. Simplifying vaccine schedules by reducing the number of doses or allowing for more flexible spacing of follow-up doses could improve population vaccine coverage, completion of vaccine series and may improve the cost-effectiveness of vaccination programs32,33. An increase in the spacing of the two doses could be more convenient for administration of the vaccine to patients, and probably allow more efficient integration of the HPVVs with other routinely-administered vaccines. Recent shortfalls in the supply of all three HPVVs34 threaten to constrain the WHO's Global Strategy Towards the Elimination of Cervical Cancer as a Public Health Problem, which aims to expand vaccine coverage and protection against HPV. Allowing extended intervals for HPV vaccination would ease administration for public health. In addition, with the current global shortage in HPVV supplies, longer intervals between doses could reduce the shortfall between supply and demand by delaying the second dose until supply increases. Evidence of the immunogenicity and effectiveness of HPVVs when the two doses are spaced at longer time intervals could therefore inform possible flexibility regarding existing HPVV schedules.

Review Question

Do intervals longer than 6 months affect the immunogenicity, efficacy/effectiveness of HPVVs administered in a two-dose schedule to children aged 9-14 years and young adults 15-26 years compared to a six month interval?

Objectives

- To determine whether HPVV schedules of 0, 6 months (+/- 1 month) and 0, 7+ months are non-inferior in the level of antibody response and seroconversion rates for children aged 9-14 years and young adults 15-26 years.
- To determine whether HPVV schedules of 0, 6 months (+/- 1 month) and 0, 7+ months are non-inferior in cellular immune response for children aged 9-14 years and young adults 15-26 years.
- 3) To determine whether HPVV schedules of 0, 6 months (+/- 1 month) and 0, 7+ months are non-inferior in their efficacy in protecting against HPV infections and HPV-related diseases for children aged 9-14 years and young adults 15-26 years.
- 4) To determine whether HPVV schedules of 0, 6 months (+/- 1 month) and 0, 7+ months are non-inferior in their effectiveness in protecting against HPV infections and HPV-related diseases for children aged 9-14 years and young adults 15-26 years.

Critical Review of Relevant Literature

HPV Vaccines and Basis of Protection (Immune Response)

HPVVs are recombinant subunit vaccines containing the major capsid L1 protein of vaccine strains. Three HPVVs are currently licensed for use. The bivalent vaccine was licensed in 2007 and targets HPV types 16 and 18. The quadrivalent vaccine was licensed a year earlier and targets HPV types 6 and 11 in addition to HPV types 16 and 18. The nonavalent vaccine was licensed in 2014 and protects against HPV types 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58, in addition to the four types that the quadrivalent vaccine protects against6.

HPVVs are prophylactic and provide greatest protection when individuals are vaccinated prior to HPV exposure, usually, before sexual debut35,36. HPVVs trigger the adaptive immune system to produce elevated levels of antibodies, B-cells and T-cells that target HPV antigens for neutralization and destruction37-40. A study of cervical secretion samples after intramuscular vaccination showed that there is exudation of serum antibodies to the mucosa to bolster protection against natural HPV infection41,42. This protection is durable over the long term due to long-lasting antibody producing B-cells and memory B-cells43-45. It is proposed that long-lasting plasma Bcells contribute to the sustained persistence of antibody protection₄₃. Memory B-cells direct the proliferation and rapid production of antibody producing B-cells if HPV challenge occurs subsequently, this is known as the anamnestic response43-45. Helper T-cells are proposed to play an accessory role in supporting the development and maintenance of an effective antibody response41,46. Since HPVVs contain a component of the viral capsid, they stimulate antibodies that neutralize the HPV particle to prevent establishment of infection. The vigorous antibody response induced by the HPVVs is therefore highly protective when vaccines are administered prior to infection47,48. The minimal anti-HPV antibody threshold required for effective protection against HPV infections and HPV associated diseases is unknown_{36,42,49}. During the peak antibody response to HPVV, neutralizing antibody levels are as much as 100 times above that of natural HPV infection_{50,51}. Natural HPV infection, even with its much-reduced antibody elicitation, also generates protective antibody levels in a subset of infected individuals₅₂, albeit insufficient to fully protect against subsequent reinfection₅₃. It is known however, that antibody levels generated by HPVVs in young women, 15-26 years old, on a three-dose schedule shows efficacy in preventing HPV infection and associated genital diseases including CIN2+ up to five years postvaccination_{47,48}. Consequently, it was recommended that evaluation of different schedules of HPVVs in girls 9-14 years, is by assessing non-inferiority of their antibody response to the antibody response among women 15-26 years, assuming that with comparable immunogenicity also efficacy would be comparable. In 15-26 year old women, efficacy against clinical outcomes after three-dose schedule is established_{39,51}. This principle is called immunobridging.

Evolution of HPV Vaccine Schedules

All three HPVVs were originally approved for administration on a three-dose schedule54. The first two prime doses were administered 1-2 months apart, followed by a boosting dose after a longer interval. This schedule was guided by the Hepatitis B vaccine which is also a recombinant vaccine44. Such a schedule was thought to be necessary to generate long-lasting antibody and cellular memory response to recombinant subunit vaccine551. Multiple studies have since showed that alternate schedules where the dose intervals were extended or the number of doses reduced are as immunogenic as three-doses, and therefore comparable protection is assumed44,46,51,55,56.

Using the immunobridging comparison, it was found that two doses provide acceptable protection for females under 15 years of age35,57,58. With these insights, the WHO revised the recommended HPV immunization schedule for immunocompetent adolescents under 15 years to two doses to be administered at an interval of 6 months between doses (0, 6 months) for the quadrivalent vaccine and an interval of 5-13 months between doses (0, 5-13 months) for the bivalent and nonavalent vaccines_{1,6,59}. The three-dose schedule for individuals 15 years and over were maintained_{1,6,59}, but there have been recent suggestions that the two-dose recommendation should be extended to individuals up to age 18_{60,61}.

Studies utilising data from delayed or incomplete HPVV series revealed preliminary insights into the effectiveness of alternate schedules. LaMontagne et al 62 proposed that the vaccine schedule impacts the timing of the peak antibody response. In their study of alternate three-dose schedules, LaMontagne et al found that a schedule administered at 0, 12, 24 months was inferior with regard to antibody levels to the standard schedule administered at 0, 2, 6 months at 1 month post-lastdose, but non-inferior at 32 months post-last-dose62. Although the 0, 12, 24 months schedule produced antibody levels at 1 month post-last-dose that were lower compared to the standard schedule, it is not known whether this translates to lower protection during this period, since the minimal immune correlates of protection against HPV infection have not been established51,63. Another alternate schedule that shows promise is administering two doses with intervals beyond one year64,65. Together, the insights into the immunogenicity of alternate schedules of HPVVs suggest that more flexibility regarding the recommended intervals of HPV vaccination schedule may be possible. With a two-dose schedule of 0, 6 months being the standard commonly applied for children 9-14 years, assessment of the effect of extending the interval beyond 6 months could delineate an ideal maximum time interval for administering the second dose. Insights of potentially efficacious extended intervals are especially valuable in guiding decision making to maximise public health benefits.

Vaccine Schedule as a Moderator of Immune Response

The timing of the administration of HPVV doses in relation to each other as well as the age administered can moderate the levels of anti-HPV antibodies produced post-vaccination. A study of three-dose schedules with different intervals found that delayed administration of the second dose resulted in increased antibody titers relative to when the second dose was administered ontime, according to the 0, 2, 6 month schedule₆₆. This study also found that antibody levels produced from delayed administration of the third dose were non-inferior to that of on-time administration of the third dose. Also, antibody levels generated by a 0, 1 month or 0, 2 month schedule of the bivalent HPVV were inferior to that generated when the vaccine was administered on a 0, 6 month, two-dose schedule_{66,67}. Timing also impacts the effectiveness of the quadrivalent HPVV against condyloma. Compared to the standard three-dose schedule (0, 2.6 months), two doses given 4-7 months apart had similar effectiveness against condyloma, whilst two doses given 0-3 months apart had reduced effectiveness68. These indications that the timing of HPVV doses impacts both levels of HPV antibodies and protection against condyloma, warrants exploration of optimal timing for the second dose of the HPVV in a two-dose schedule. Understanding optimal timing of the second dose could guide refinements of HPV vaccination programs globally to improve vaccine delivery and ultimately population protection.

Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses

The recognition of systematic reviews as a formal type of research with recognizable value for evidence synthesis occurred in the 1970s69. Standardized methodologies and tools have been developed for executing systematic reviews70,71. These standards aim to ensure that the products of the substantial efforts required to execute a systematic review generate high quality, organized, appraised and integrated evidence of minimal bias. Such evidence is significant for decision

making in health and social contexts to enhance accountability⁷². Systematic reviews may include a meta-analysis as a quantitative synthesis of the accumulated evidence on the topic. The term meta-analysis was coined in 1976 by Gene Glass and methods for appropriate integration and statistical analyses of data from multiple studies have also subsequently been developed⁷³. This analysis will apply relevant standards, methodologies and tools, developed for systematic reviews and meta-analyses, to explore the defined research question.

Methods

A protocol was developed for the execution of this systematic review and registered with the International Prospective Register of Systematic Review (PROSPERO), under protocol number: CRD42019141959. Reporting of the review was done according to with the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.

Literature search and study selection

Briefly, a population, intervention, comparator and outcome (PICO) search strategy was developed and used to conduct a systematic search for relevant studies in peer-reviewed and grey-literature databases. The databases: MEDLINE (Ovid), EMBASE (Ovid), Cochrane Central Register of Clinical Trials, PUBMED and CINAHL were searched using this PICO search strategy (Appendix 1), which was adapted to each database based on their syntax and thesaurus. The search term "HPV Vaccine" was used to search ClinicalTrials.gov, GSK study register, MERCK clinical trials, International Clinical Trials Registry Platform, EU Clinical Trials Register and Drugs@FDA for grey literature. Two review team members, ACF and RD, screened references for suitability based on pre-defined inclusion criteria. Inclusion criteria were:

- 1. study participants received first HPVV dose between age 9-26 years inclusive,
- 2. administration of any combination of bivalent, quadrivalent or nonavalent HPVVs in a two-dose schedule to females and/or males and
- 3. presentation of data on immunogenicity, effectiveness or efficacy of two doses of HPVV administered 0,6 months (+/- 1 month) as well as two doses administered 0,7+ months.

Studies were excluded if:

- any other agent was administered simultaneously with HPVV for treatment of or protection against HPV related outcomes,
- 2. only populations with specific diseases were included,
- 3. the second dose of HPVV was administered earlier than five months after the first dose,
- 4. the vaccine formulation administered is different from the licensed vaccine formulation, or
- 5. the study is reported in a language other than English.

Data Extraction and Analyses

Data were independently extracted from included studies by ACF and RD onto prepared data extraction worksheets and both sets of extracted data checked for agreement and accuracy by ACF. Bias in each study was assessed using the Cochrane Risk of Bias v2 for clinical studies⁷⁴ and the Cochrane Risk of Bias in Non-Randomised Studies of Intervention (ROBINS-I)⁷⁵ tool for observational studies. The quality of the evidence available to assess each study objective was then assessed using the Grades of Recommendation, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach⁷⁶.

Outcome measures reported for immunogenicity and effectiveness indicators were used to derive a relative measure for comparing schedules of 0, 7+ months (0, 7+m) to the reference schedule of 0, 6 months (0,6m). To validly compare effects across studies, within-study relative measures for the effect of 0,7+m versus 0,6m intervals on immunogenicity outcomes were first generated to obtain an effect measure that controls for inter-study methodological variations such as antibody assays77. Using Revman 5.2, relative measures were then pooled across studies with identical study design and low to moderate heterogeneity, $I_2 < 50\%$, to provide a pooled estimate of effect. Noninferiority (NI) was then assessed using specified NI margins for the pooled estimates (Table 1). These NI margins were adopted from previous non-inferiority studies related to HPVVs and their use will facilitate comparison of our findings to previous studies 78,79. Where NI was demonstrated, superiority was assessed, as pre-specified in the protocol for this review. Superiority is demonstrated when the lower limit of the 95% CI of the estimate exceeds 1 for ratios and 0 for differences in proportions or rates.

Outcome	Measures	Non-Inferiority Margins for 0.7+m vs 0.6m
		Lower limit of 95%
		confidence interval is:
Immunogenicity		
Antibody Levels	> 0.5 for ratio	
Cell based Immunity	HPV type specific B or T-cells per million B or T-cells	> 0.5 for ratio
Seroconversion	Proportion	> -10% for difference
Effectiveness		
HPV Infection	Proportion	> -10% for difference
	Rate	≥ 0 for rate difference
Rates of Any HPV Related Disease	Rate	≥ 0 for rate difference

Table 1: Non-Inferiority Margins Used in Comparing 0, 7+m vs 0,6m Schedules

GMC/T= Geometric mean concentration or titer.

Results

Description of Included Studies

Of the 1276 records screened for eligibility, 11 were selected for inclusion in this systematic review (Figure 1) and these represented four unique studies. Each is described below and a summary of included publications provided in Table 2.





				ĩ		Ou	tcom	nes R	lepor	ted															
udies li ID ticipants n vears) k		ated, 1))	Immunogenicity (Time post dose 1/months)														Efficacy/ Effectiveness							
		ticij n ye	u "x	ze	n Zear	Sei	rocon	ivers	ion			GN	AC/T	1				Cel	lular	· Imr	nuna	ogeni	city	_	'n
Inime St	Study/Tria	Study Par (sex, age ii	Interventi (Vaccine & Schedule)	Sample Si (Total Vac	Publicatio (Author_J	7	13	18	24	36	36-96	7	13	18 24	36	36-96	7	13	18	24	36	36-96	AGW	Incident: HPV/ Cancer/ Pre-cance	
1	NCT01381575 & EUCTR2011-	F, 9-14 F, 9-14	2v @ 0,6m 2v @ 0,12m	550 <u>415</u> 965	GSK 2011* Huang etal	•	•	•	•	•	0	•	•	•	•	•	0	•	•	•	•	•	0	0	0
	000757-22-11				2017 Puthanakit et al 2016	•	•	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	NCT01984697	F, 9-14 M, 9-14 FM, 9-14	9v @ 0,6m 9v @ 0,6m 9v @ 0,12m	301 301 <u>301</u>	Merck 2013* Iversen etal	•	•	0	•	•	0	•	•	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0
			90	903	03 2016 Joohee etal 2016	•	•	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
					Yan etal 2016	•	٠	0	0	0	0	•	٠	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	NCT0256795 & NCT03431246	FM, 9-14 F, 9-14	9v @ 0,6m 4v/9v @ 36-96m	173 _ <u>31</u> 204	Gilca etal 2019	•	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	Lamb etal 2017	F, ≤16	4v @ 4-7m 4v @ 8+m	8095 <u>1894</u> 9989	Lamb etal 2017	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0
		F, 17-19	4v @ 4-7m 4v @ 8+m	2965 <u>615</u> 3580																					

Table 2: Summary of the characteristics of included studies

•= available data, \bigcirc = no data, 2v= bivalent HPV vaccine, F= female, M= make, FM= female and male, 4v= quadrivalent HPV vaccine, 9v= nonavalent HPV vaccine, 4v/9v= mixed regimen of 4v then 9v HPV vaccine, GMC/T= geometric mean concentration/titres from enzyme linked immunosorbent assay, competitive luminex immunoassay or pseudoviron based neutralization assay, AGW= ano-genital warts, *= source from which data were extracted when multiple publications available

GSK_NCT01381575 (Bivalent study)

Study NCT0131575 is a GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) sponsored study, conducted from June 29, 2011 to June 28, 2014. It is a RCT that evaluated the immunogenicity and safety of GSK's HPV16/18 vaccine (Cervarix®) when administered according to alternative 2-dose schedules of 0,6 months and 0,12 months in females 9-14 years compared to the standard 3-dose schedule (0,1,6 months) in 15-25 year old females. Primary study outcomes measured were number of anti-HPV16/18 seroconverted participants at one month after the last vaccine dose, as well as anti-HPV 16 and anti-HPV-18 antibody concentrations, measured by Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) at one month after the last vaccine dose. Secondary outcomes related to immunogenicity were:

- seroconversion for anti-HPV16/18 after dose 1 at day 0, then at months 7, 12, 18, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,6 months and 0,1,6 months, and at day 0, months 13, 18, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,12 months;
- anti-HPV16/18 measured by ELISA after dose 1 at day 0, then at months 7, 12, 18, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,6 months and 0,1,6 months, but at day 0, months 13, 18, 24 and 36, for participants receiving vaccine 0,12 months;
- 3. anti-HPV16/18 neutralising antibody measured by PBNA for a subset of participants after dose 1 at day 0, then at months 7, 12, 18, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine 0,6 months and 0,1,6 months and at day 0, then months 13, 18, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,12 months;
- 4. Anti-HPV 16/18 specific T-cell after dose 1 at day 0, then at months 7, 12, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,6 months and 0,1,6 months and at day 0, then months 13, 18 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,12 months;

 Anti-HPV16/18 specific memory B-cells after dose 1 at day 0, then months 7, 12, 24 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,6 months and 0,1,6 months and at day 0, then months 13, 18 and 36 for participants receiving vaccine at 0,12 months.

Data from this study was reported by four publications identified by our search strategy (Table 2). This study will be subsequently referred to as the bivalent study⁸⁰.

Merck_NCT01984697 (Nonavalent study)

This study was sponsored by Merck Sharp & Dohme Corporation. It is a RCT that investigated the safety and immunogenicity of nonavalent HPVV when administered in alternate two-dose schedules of 0,6 months and 0,12 months in boys and girls 9-14 years, compared to women 16 to 26 years who received standard three-dose regimen at 0, 2, 6 months. The primary study outcomes were antibodies to vaccine HPV types (HPV6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58) at 1 month after the last dose of planned regimen, as measured by competitive Luminex Imunoassay (cLIA). Secondary outcomes were:

- 1. seroconversion to HPVV types at 1 month after last dose of the planned regimen;
- persistence of vaccine type antibodies, measured by cLIA at months 24 and 36 after the first dose;
- 3. persistence of vaccine type antibodies, as measured by percentage seroconverted participants to vaccine type HPV at months 24 and 36 after first dose.

Data from this study was reported by five of the publications identified by our search strategy (Table 2). This study will be subsequently referred to as the nonavalent study⁸¹.

Gilca et al 2019

This non-randomised study was a post hoc analysis comparing anti-HPV6, 11, 16 and 18 antibody response measured by ELISA, of 173 males and females aged 9-10 years who received two-doses of nonavalent vaccine at 0, 6 months (6m), to 31 girls aged 9-14 years who received quadrivalent vaccine as a first dose and nonavalent vaccine as a second dose 3-8 years later. The 0, 6m participants were the comparator group for a separate RCT (NCT02567955), and was adopted as the comparator group for this post hoc analysis. Participants in the intervention group that received vaccine at 0, 36-96 months (36-96m) were identified in a school-based vaccination database as non-compliant cases who completed only one dose of the recommended two-dose vaccine schedule. This study will be subsequently referred to as Gilca et al64.

Lamb et al 2017

This is a cohort study, that assessed the incidence of condyloma in Swedish women initiating HPVV between 2006 and 2012, and who received two doses of the quadrivalent vaccine at varying intervals between doses, including intervals of 4-7 months (4-7m) and 8 or more (8+m). National registries were linked to provide the study exposure and associated outcome data. This study will be subsequently referred to as Lamb et al₆₈.

Risk of Bias Analysis

The two randomised studies had an overall low risk of bias (Figure 2), when judged using the RoB2 tool. The only area that not ideal was the lack of blinding in regard to participants'

assigned study group, ie. receiving vaccine at 0, 12 months (12m) versus 0, 6 months (6m), in both studies. The effect of lack of blinding in these studies where biomarkers such as antibody levels and cell frequencies are the outcomes assessed, is anticipated to be low.

The observational studies by Gilca et al and Lamb et al were assessed using the ROBINS-I tool. Gilca et al 2019 was assessed to have an overall moderate risk of bias (Figure 3). Confounding by indication and volunteer bias could potentially be operating in this study. Confounding by indication could arise since participants in the 36m group were all non-compliant vaccinees. Social deprivation was associated with lower vaccination coverage in Quebec₈₂ (the province where this study was done), and in Ontario lower income was associated with incomplete vaccine series83. The antibody response is generally robust to sociodemographic factors such as race and region of residences4, however we cannot completely exclude the chance that sociodemographic factors associated with vaccine non-compliance could distort the true effect of a 36-96m interval GMT. Additionally, higher vaccine-type antibody titres have been observed or girls who were seropositive for HPV prior to HPVV than for girls seronegative at baseline48,84. The 36-96m of vaccine non-compliance provides substantially greater opportunity for higher HPV exposure, which could potentially inflate the peak GMT observed after the second vaccine dose, again distorting the true effect of the 36-96m interval. No information on the sexual risks of the comparator and intervention groups were reported. There is also a potential for volunteer bias in this study since only non-compliant vaccinees who consented to receiving the second dose could be included. The authors however, did not report the proportion of the eligible population that consented or how representative they are. This publication completed the peerreview process without the aforementioned information being included. It may be an indication that the authors and reviewers did not consider that information to be highly influential on the

outcome of antibody concentration. Although the missing information would have supported firm establishment of the quality of the evidence from this study, the extent to which they would bias a robust, objective biomarker like antibody levels is not definitively clear. Consequently a more severe risk of bias rating than moderate was not assigned.

Lamb et al was assessed to have moderate risk of bias due to residual confounding₆₈. The results of the risk of bias for the randomised and non-randomised studies are presented in Figures 1-2. Detailed risk of bias assessments are provided in Appendix 2.

				Risk of bia	as domains		
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall
ldy	GSK_NCT01381575	+	+	+	+	+	+
Stu	Merck_NCT01984697	+	+	+	+	+	+
		Domains: D1: Bias due to D2: Bias due to D3: Bias due to D4: Bias due to D5: Bias due to	randomisation. deviations from in missing data. outcome measure selection of report	tended interventio ement. ted result.	on.		Judgement

Figure 2: Traffic light plot summarizing the risk of bias assessment of the two randomised controlled trials included in this study.

The assessment was conducted using the RoB2 tool and visualized using robvis.





The assessment was conducted using the ROBINS-I tool and visualized using robvis.

Synthesis of Outcomes

Immunogenicity

Three studies examined the effect of two-dose schedules with time intervals of 6m compared to 7+m between two doses, on HPVV immunogenicity. Two of these studies, the bivalent and the nonavalent studies examined 0, 12m and 0, 6m two-dose schedules. The third study, Gilca et al, compared a 0, 6m dose interval to a 36-96m dose interval. The effects of the 7+m interval is therefore reported in terms of 0, 12m and 0, 36-96m. Immunogenicity was reported in terms of seroconversion rates, humoral antibody response, and cellular immune responses.

Seroconversion and Seropositivity

One month after administration of the last dose of HPVV, seroconversion to vaccine-type HPV for the 0, 12m schedule was non-inferior to that of the 0, 6m schedule when two doses of the bivalent or two doses of the nonavalent vaccines were administered (Figure 4). The bivalent vaccine also showed non-inferior seropositivity to vaccine-type HPV for the 0, 12m schedule compared to the 0, 6m schedule, and this persisted up to 1 year post-last-dose, which was the maximum duration of follow-up for which data was reported (Figure 5). No data were available to assess the immunogenicity of 0, 12m versus 0, 6m interval for two doses of the nonavalent vaccine beyond 1m post-last-dose. Contrasting to a regimen of two doses of bivalent or nonavalent vaccines, non-inferiority in vaccine-type HPV seroconversion was not demonstrated for a mixed quadrivalent-nonavalent regimen, when the two doses were administered at a 0, 36-96m interval versus a 0,6m interval (Figure 4). The very wide confidence intervals for seroconversion difference based on data reported for this mixed schedule included the noninferiority margin of -10% difference in seroconversion for all four HPV types (6/11/16/18) and above 0.0%, even though the point estimates were 0.0% (95% CI: -11.07%, 2.18%). The point estimate and confidence intervals suggest that seroconversion could be worse, better or no different, and so this study is inconclusive in regards to the relative effects of 0,36-96m versus 0,6m schedules on the seroconversion rates for HPVVs. Further, no data is currently available beyond 1m post-last-dose, as such the seroconversion difference between schedules of 0,36-96m and 0.6m for this regimen could not be assessed over time. There was also no indication of heterogeneity in seroconversion across the studies (I₂=0).



Figure 4: Difference in seroconversion to vaccine type HPV strains between two-dose schedules administered at 0,7+m versus 0,6m, at 1m after last HPV vaccine dose.

2v=bivalent vaccine, 4v=quadrivalent vaccine, 9v=nonavalent vaccine, squares = mixed schedule of quadrivalent and nonavalent HPV vaccine reported by Gilca et al (2019), triangles = two doses of nonavalent vaccine reported by the nonvalent study₈₁, circles= 2 doses of bivalent vaccine reported by the bivalent study₈₀. The line at -10% is the pre-specified non inferiority margin for the ratio of the 0, 7+m interval group versus 0, 6m interval group. The line at 0 represent no difference. 95% Confidence Interval were calculated using Wilsons exact approach without continuity correction.



Figure 5: Trend in seropositivity difference of 12m versus 6m intervals between two doses of bivalent HPV vaccine, from 1 month post last dose to 12 months post last dose.

Grey line indicates no difference and the black line indicates the -10% non-inferiority margin.

Antibody levels

At one month post-last-dose of HPVV, a 12m interval between two doses of bivalent or nonavalent vaccine was superior to a 6m interval in antibody response to almost all vaccine-type HPV. This superiority was demonstrated since the lower limit of the confidence intervals of 12m to 6m geometric mean concentration or titer (GMC/T) ratios exceeded 1 for all vaccine-types, except for HPV18 when the bivalent vaccine was administered (GMC/T ratio 1.11, 95%CI: 1.00 to 1.23, Figure 6). GMC/T ratios for HPV16 and 18 for the bivalent and nonavalent vaccines showed substantial heterogeneity for the ratio of the peak antibody response at 1m post-last-dose $(I_2 = 76\%)$, precluding pooling of these data. The 12m interval provided antibody responses superior to the 6m interval for HPV16 and 18 at 6-12m post-last-dose for the bivalent vaccine (Figure 7). A two dose interval of 36-96m between doses was non-inferior to a 6m interval in antibody response to HPV6, 16 and 18, but not HPV11 (GMC/T ratio 0.63, 95% CI: 0.41 to 0.97, Figure 6). Estimates of the GMC/T ratio for 0, 36-96m vs 0, 6m based on the mixed vaccine schedule reported by Gilca et al 2019 were the lowest among the three studies. The confidence intervals were also the widest of the three studies. This imprecision is not surprising considering the small number of study participants (31) in the 0, 36-96m treatment arm.



Figure 6: Vaccine type HPV antibody ratios for two dose schedules administered at intervals of 0, 7+m versus 0, 6m at 1 month post-last HPV vaccine dose.

2v=bivalent vaccine, 4v=quadrivalent vaccine, 9v=nonavalent vaccine, squares = mixed schedule of quadrivalent and nonavalent HPV vaccine reported by Gilca et al (2019), triangles = two doses of nonavalent vaccine reported by the nonvalent study₈₁, circles= 2 doses of bivalent vaccine reported by the bivalent study₈₀. The line at 0.5 is the pre-specified non inferiority margin for the ratio of the 0, 7+m interval group versus 0, 6m interval group. The line at 1 represent no difference.



Figure 7: Variation in the antiHPV16 and antiHPV18 antibody response from 1-12 months post-last-dose of bivalent vaccine reported in the bivalent study⁸⁰.

Grey line indicates no difference and the black line indicates the 0.5 non-inferiority margin.

Cellular Response

Memory B-cell and T-cell immune response were measured in a subset of participants in the bivalent study. No CD8+ T cell response to HPV16/18 was detectable for any of the evaluated schedules. The memory B-cell and CD4+ T-cell response were of similar magnitude for the 0, 12m and 0, 6m schedules, at 36m post-dose-one. The study authors noted however, that the number of participants observed would not have provided sufficient statistical power to detect differences between the groups.

Effectiveness

Data on the effectiveness of extending the interval between two doses of HPVV in the two-dose schedule is limited. A total of eight HPV-related diseases were specified as outcomes of interest to assess the effect of the length of the dose interval in two-dose schedules on HPVV effectiveness. Data at this time was only available for AGWs as an outcome. This data was provided by one study, Lamb et al, that investigated the effect of time intervals of 4-7m and 8+m on AGW incidence. Increasing the interval between two doses, from 4-7m to 8+m was associated with an non-significant increase in AGW incidence rate, for females younger than 17 years (IRD 256.21, 95%CI -12.11, 524.53 per 100,000 person-years) as well as those aged 17-19 years (IRD 448.62, 95%CI -49.41, 946.64 per 100,000 person-years). These are inconclusive findings since they include both the non-inferiority margin as well as the margin of no difference.

GRADE Assessment

Assessment of inconsistency, indirectness and imprecision were based on the guidelines provided by Meader et al (2014) to improve consistency and reproducibility of GRADE assessmentss. Effect estimates based on the bivalent and nonavalent vaccines were assessed to have high certainty due to them being RCTs with low risk of bias and sample sizes of over 100 participants per study group. Effect estimates based on Gilca et al and Lamb et al were assessed to be of low certainty due to their moderate risk of bias and wide confidence intervals. These are effects of their observational study design and in the case of Gilca et al, the small size of the 0, 36-96m group (31 participants) contributed greatly to the imprecision. The complete GRADE assessment is provided in Appendix 3.

Discussion

Immunogenicity

In this systematic review we investigated the effect of dose intervals of 0, 7+m versus 0, 6m on the immunogenicity and effectiveness of two doses of HPVVs. We found the effect to be dependent on: HPV type, HPVV and the length of the two-dose interval beyond 6 months. An interval of 12m generally improved the antibody response when compared to a 6m interval between two HPVV doses. This concurs with the report by Bergman et al 2020, that increasing the two dose interval from 0, 6m to 0, 12m increases immunogenicity 27. The length of the interval between the prime and boost vaccine doses mediates the extent to which stimulation and maturation of antibody producing B-cells is achieved before boosting44,86. Compared to a 6m interval, a 12m interval would allow the processes involved in stimulation and maturation of antibody response generally observed for 12m versus 6m intervals. While a 12m two-dose interval was generally superior in antibody response to a 6m interval, a 36-96m two-dose interval was non-inferior for HPV6, 16, and 18, but not so for HPV11. It is notable that evidence for the 36-96m interval was drawn from a non-randomised study with at

least moderate potential for confounding, a low sample size (31 individuals for the 0, 36-96m and 173 individuals for the 0, 6m) that gave inconclusive results for seroconversion difference (0.00%, 95% CI: -11.07%, 2.18%) and wide confidence intervals around the antibody response to the vaccine-type HPVs. Nevertheless, the non-inferiority of the extended 36-96m interval to a 6m interval for hrHPV types is encouraging in its potential to be used for vaccination programs against cervical cancer. The clinical significance of the HPV11 antibody response failing to

achieve non-inferiority when two doses are administered on a 36-96m schedule versus 0,6m schedule is unclear. As previously mentioned, a minimum antibody level required for protection against HPV infection has not been established₆₃, as well, the presence of memory B-cells may be enough to trigger a protective anamnestic response during natural HPV infection, even if plasma antibody levels become low or even undetectable post-vaccination 45,87. Further studies are required to confirm the performance of the 36-96m interval.

Efficacy and Effectiveness

AGW was the only clinical outcome for which data was available to assess the impact of extending the two-dose intervals on HPVV efficacy or effectiveness. Non-inferiority analysis based on these data was however inconclusive with incidence rate difference of 256.21, 95%CI - 12.11, 524.53 per 100,000 person-years.

There is a clear need for high quality empirical evidence to assess the impact of extending intervals for two-dose schedules beyond 6 and 12 months, on the performance of HPVV in relation to accepted primary end-points⁵¹ for HPV diseases. Assessing efficacy or effectiveness of the HPV vaccine among 9-14 year olds using cervical samples is constrained by ethical considerations⁵¹, since most in this age group have not initiated sexual contact. Perhaps AGW incidence could be explored as a proxy for efficacy and effectiveness among this age group. Lamb et al demonstrated this by investigating AGW incidence among 10-16 year olds using registries. More precise estimates should be pursued.

Strengths and Limitations

This systematic review was executed according to a previously published protocol and focuses on the effect of extending dose intervals beyond six months on the two-dose HPV vaccine schedule. It was comprehensive in the search for eligible studies based on the range of databases queried. In regards to its focus, this review is more comprehensive than Bergman et al (2020) since it incorporates all available randomised and non-randomised studies comparing the effect of intervals of 6m or longer on HPVV immunogenicity and clinical outcomes. Including insights from additional sources is especially important given the limited reported data examining the effect of increased intervals between two HPVV doses. It is also a recommended practices8,89 and for this review it provided more nuanced insights into the effect of dose intervals greater than 6m. A poignant concern with including non-randomised studies in systematic reviews, is their potential for increased risk of bias. With this in mind, we qualitatively incorporated insights from non-randomised and randomised studies, rather than pooling data across study designs71,90. It is notable that two studies included in this review, the nonavalent study by Merck and Gilca et al, included males 9-14 years as study participants. This is acceptable, as HPV vaccine antibody response has not been shown to be sex-dependent_{36,57,91}. Comparison of vaccine schedules have been done using time post-dose-one and time post-last-dose. This study used time post-last-dose only, as it reveals the true time-matched relative effects of schedules with different dose intervals. Rather than comparing absolute antibody measures, we generated relative measures between the 0,7+m and 6m time intervals and compared these relative measures. In so doing we would have minimised the influence of between-study methodological variations on the inferences generated. A less than ideal step of our methodology, was the performance of the ROBINS-I assessment by a single team member (MPH candidate). The ROBINS-I was intended to completed by a panel of content and methodological experts related to the review75. The risk

of bias report generated by the single reviewer, was however evaluated by a senior member of the review team and no change in judgements were deemed necessary.

This systematic review was limited by the scarcity of data on the effects of extended intervals longer than 6m on the immunogenicity, efficacy or effectiveness of two-dose HPVV schedule. Further, the studies of immunogenicity included in this review included only participants of ages 9-14 years, so while our data will be relevant to the primary target group for HPV vaccination (females 9-14 years) and boys of that age, it may not be generalizable to older females.

Implications and Recommendations for Public Health Practice

The minimal immune correlates necessary for protection against HPV infection remains unknown, however, antibody response is an essential component of the protection against HPV infection. The findings of non-inferior immunogenicity for hrHPV types after extended dosing of the two-dose schedule are particularly encouraging for public health, and have implications for HPV schedule recommendations.

First, the generally greater immunogenicity when the two-dose interval is 12m versus 6m suggests that 0,12m could safely be promoted as the preferred dosing interval in HPVV dose recommendations, rather than 0,6m. This is especially true if a 12m interval can truly deliver added benefits in ease or costs of vaccine administration to the primary target population (females 9-14 years). Most Canadian provinces, including British Columbia, currently use a 0,6m two-dose schedule in their school-based HPV vaccination programs₂₀. Moving to a 0,12m schedule would reduce the number of school visits that health-care professionals must make each year to administer this vaccine. This could potentially improve the cost-effectiveness of the HPV vaccination programs.

It is unlikely however, that a 0,12m schedule would provide substantial alleviation of the current shortfall in HPVV supplies. Suggestions have been made for the two-dose interval to be extended to 3-5 years between doses28. The non-inferiority of HPV16 and 18 at a 36-96m interval compared to a 6m interval suggests that a 3-5 year interval between doses may perform acceptably among the primary target population. Considering that the study providing data for the 36-96m interval is of sub-optimal rigor, further investigation of this interval is justified to confirm whether it is sufficiently protective against HPV infection and pre-cursors to cervical cancer.

Conclusion

The evidence indicates non-inferiority of 0, 12 month schedules to 0, 6m schedules in immunogenicity to all HPV types. Also the 0, 36-96m schedule is non-inferior to HPV6, 16, 18 but not HPV11. These findings support the use of HPVVs in two-dose schedules with extended intervals of 12 months for females and males 9-14 years of age and provides vaccination programs more flexibility in regards to the time for administering the second immunization. The non-inferiority of 36-96m to 6m for HPV6, 16 and 18 is promising but needs further confirmation since these findings were obtained from observational data in a study with a small sample size and have low certainty. The data available did not allow assessment of the effect of the extended interval (0,7+m) on vaccine efficacy and effectiveness and underscores the need for further investigations with regard to the effectiveness of two-dose schedules with intervals longer than 6 and 12 months.

References

- 1. WHO. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, October 2014— Recommendations. *Vaccine*. 2015;33(36):4383-4384. doi:10.1016/J.VACCINE.2014.12.002
- 2. ICO/IARC. Human Papillomavirus and Related Diseases Report. *HPV Information Centre*. 2019;(January):307-307.
- 3. Martel C de, Georges D, Bray F, Ferlay J, Clifford GM. Global burden of cancer attributable to infections in 2018: a worldwide incidence analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*. 2019;0(0). doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30488-7
- 4. Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*. 2016;4(9):e609-e616. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30143-7
- 5. Volesky KD, El-Zein M, Franco EL, Brenner DR, Friedenreich CM, Ruan Y. Cancers attributable to infections in Canada. *Preventive Medicine*. 2019;122:109-117. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.03.035
- 6. WHO. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, May 2017. *Weekly epidemiological record*. 2017;92:241-268.
- 7. Lee TS, Kothari-Talwar S, Singhal PK, et al. Cross-sectional study estimating the psychosocial impact of genital warts and other anogenital diseases in South Korea. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(3). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025035
- 8. Raymakers AJN, Sadatsafavi M, Marra F, Marra CA. Economic and Humanistic Burden of External Genital Warts. *PharmacoEconomics*. 2012;30(1):1-16. doi:10.2165/11591170-000000000-00000
- 9. Desai S, Wetten S, Woodhall SC, Peters L, Hughes G, Soldan K. Genital warts and cost of care in England. *Sex Transm Infect.* 2011;87(6):464-468. doi:10.1136/sti.2010.048421
- 10. Qi S-Z, Wang S-M, Shi J-F, et al. Human papillomavirus-related psychosocial impact of patients with genital warts in China: a hospital-based cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):739. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-739
- 11. Domenech-Viñolas M, León-Maldonado L, Ramírez-Palacios P, et al. Incidence, psychosocial burden, and economic impact of genital warts in Mexico. *Salud publica de Mexico*. 2018;60(6):624-632. doi:10.21149/10008
- 12. Arbyn M, Weiderpass E, Bruni L, et al. Estimates of incidence and mortality of cervical cancer in 2018: a worldwide analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*. December 2019:S2214109X19304826. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30482-6
- 13. Drolet M, Bénard É, Boily M, et al. Population-level impact and herd eff ects following human papillomavirus vaccination programmes : a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2015;15:565-580. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(14)71073-4

- 14. Drolet M, Bénard É, Boily MC, et al. Population-level impact and herd effects following the introduction of human papillomavirus vaccination programmes: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2019;15(5):565-580. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(14)71073-4
- 15. Garland SM, Kjaer SK, Muñoz N, et al. Impact and effectiveness of the quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccine: A systematic review of 10 years of real-world experience. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2016;63(4):519-527. doi:10.1093/cid/ciw354
- 16. Markowitz LE, Drolet M, Laprise J-F, Brisson M, Chesson HW. Comparison of 2-Dose and 3-Dose 9-Valent Human Papillomavirus Vaccine Schedules in the United States: A Cost-effectiveness Analysis. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2016. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw227
- 17. WHO. DRAFT: GLOBAL STRATEGY TOWARDS THE ELIMINATION OF CERVICAL CANCER AS A PUBLIC HEALTH PROBLEM. World Health Organization; 2019.
- Vaccarella S, Franceschi S, Zaridze D, et al. Preventable fractions of cervical cancer via effective screening in six Baltic, central, and eastern European countries 2017–40: a population-based study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2016;17(10):1445-1452. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30275-3
- 19. Chidyaonga-Maseko F, Chirwa ML, Muula AS. Underutilization of cervical cancer prevention services in low and middle income countries: a review of contributing factors. *Pan Afr Med J.* 2015;21. doi:10.11604/pamj.2015.21.231.6350
- 20. Smith A, Baines N, Memon S, et al. Moving toward the elimination of cervical cancer: modelling the health and economic benefits of increasing uptake of human papillomavirus vaccines. *Current Oncology*. 2019;26(2). doi:10.3747/co.26.4795
- 21. WHO. Accelerating Cervical Cancer Elimination. World Health Organization; 2018:5. https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/EB144/B144_28-en.pdf.
- 22. UNICEF. Human Papillomavirus Vaccine: Supply and Demand Update. UNICEF; 2018.
- 23. Héquet D, Rouzier R. Determinants of geographic inequalities in HPV vaccination in the most populated region of France. *PLOS ONE*. 2017;12(3):e0172906. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172906
- 24. Wilson L, Rubens-Augustson T, Murphy M, et al. Barriers to immunization among newcomers: A systematic review. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(8):1055-1062. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.01.025
- 25. Spencer JC, Calo WA, Brewer NT. Disparities and reverse disparities in HPV vaccination: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*. 2019;123:197-203. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.03.037
- 26. Luciani S, Bruni L, Agurto I, Ruiz-Matus C. HPV vaccine implementation and monitoring in Latin America. *Salud Publica Mex.* 2018;60(6, nov-dic):683. doi:10.21149/9090
- 27. Bergman H, Buckley BS, Villanueva G, et al. Comparison of different human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine types and dose schedules for prevention of HPV-related

disease in females and males. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2019;2019(11). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD013479

- 28. WHO. Meeting of the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunization, October 2019: conclusions and recommendations. *Weekly epidemiological record*. 2019;94(47):541-560.
- 29. Simms KT, Steinberg J, Caruana M, et al. Impact of scaled up human papillomavirus vaccination and cervical screening and the potential for global elimination of cervical cancer in 181 countries, 2020 99 : a modelling study. *Lancet Oncology*. 2019;20(3):394-407. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30836-2
- 30. Bruni L, Diaz M, Barrionuevo-rosas L, et al. Articles Global estimates of human papillomavirus vaccination coverage by region and income level : a pooled analysis. 2014:4-9. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30099-7
- 31. Loke AY, Kwan ML, Wong Y, Kar A, Wong Y. The Uptake of Human Papillomavirus Vaccination and Its Associated Factors Among Adolescents : A Systematic Review. 2017. doi:10.1177/2150131917742299
- 32. Burger EA, Campos NG, Sy S, Regan C, Kim JJ. Health and economic benefits of singledose HPV vaccination in a Gavi-eligible country. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(32):4823-4829. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.04.061
- Gallagher KE, LaMontagne DS, Watson-Jones D. Status of HPV vaccine introduction and barriers to country uptake. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(32):4761-4767. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.02.003
- 34. Arie S. HPV: WHO calls for countries to suspend vaccination of boys. *BMJ*. December 2019:I6765. doi:10.1136/bmj.I6765
- 35. Pedersen C, Petaja T, Strauss G, et al. Immunization of Early Adolescent Females with Human Papillomavirus Type 16 and 18 L1 Virus-Like Particle Vaccine Containing AS04 Adjuvant. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2007;40(6):564-571. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.02.015
- 36. Ferris D, Samakoses R, Block SL, et al. Long-term Study of a Quadrivalent Human Papillomavirus Vaccine. *Pediatrics*. 2014;134(3):e657-e665. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-4144
- Pinto LA, Edwards J, Castle PE, et al. Cellular Immune Responses to Human Papillomavirus (HPV)–16 L1 in Healthy Volunteers Immunized with Recombinant HPV-16 L1 Virus-Like Particles. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2003;188(2):327-338. doi:10.1086/376505
- Folschweiller N, Behre U, Dionne M, et al. Long-term Cross-reactivity Against Nonvaccine Human Papillomavirus Types 31 and 45 After 2- or 3-Dose Schedules of the AS04-Adjuvanted Human HPV-16/18 Vaccine. *J Infect Dis.* 2019;219(11):1799-1803. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiy743
- 39. Frazer I. Correlating immunity with protection for HPV infection. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2007;11(SUPPL. 2):10-16. doi:10.1016/S1201-9712(07)60016-2

- 40. Yokomine M, Matsueda S, Kawano K, et al. Enhancement of humoral and cell mediated immune response to HPV16 L1-derived peptides subsequent to vaccination with prophylactic bivalent HPV L1 virus-like particle vaccine in healthy females. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*. 2017;13(4):1500-1505. doi:10.3892/etm.2017.4150
- 41. Scherpenisse M, Mollers M, Schepp RM, et al. Detection of systemic and mucosal HPVspecific IgG and IgA antibodies in adolescent girls one and two years after HPV vaccination. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2013;9(2):314-321. doi:10.4161/hv.22693
- 42. Stanley M. HPV Immune response to infection and vaccination. *Infectious Agents and Cancer*. 2010;5(1):19-19. doi:10.1186/1750-9378-5-19
- 43. Schiller J, Lowy D. Explanations for the high potency of HPV prophylactic vaccines. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(32, Part A):4768-4773. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.12.079
- 44. Stanley MA, Sudenga SL, Giuliano AR. Alternative dosage schedules with HPV VLP vaccines. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2014;13(8):1027-1038. doi:10.1586/14760584.2014.935767
- Olsson S-E, Villa LL, Costa RLR, et al. Induction of immune memory following administration of a prophylactic quadrivalent human papillomavirus (HPV) types 6/11/16/18 L1 virus-like particle (VLP) vaccine. *Vaccine*. 2007;25(26):4931-4939. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.03.049
- 46. Smolen KK, Gelinas L, Franzen L, et al. Age of recipient and number of doses differentially impact human B and T cell immune memory responses to HPV vaccination. *Vaccine*. 2012;30(24):3572-3579. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.03.051
- 47. Govan VA. A novel vaccine for cervical cancer : quadrivalent recombinant vaccine (Gardasil ®). *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Managment*. 2008;4(1):65-70.
- 48. Villa LL, Costa RLR, Petta CA, et al. Prophylactic quadrivalent human papillomavirus (types 6, 11, 16, and 18) L1 virus-like particle vaccine in young women: A randomised double-blind placebo-controlled multicentre phase II efficacy trial. *Lancet Oncology*. 2005;6(5):271-278. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(05)70101-7
- 49. Brown DR, Garland S, Ferris DG, et al. The humoral response to Gardasil® over four years as defined by Total IgG and competitive luminex immunoassay. *Human Vaccines*. 2011;7(2):230-238. doi:10.4161/hv.7.2.13948
- 50. Stanley M, Pinto LA, Trimble C. Human Papillomavirus Vaccines Immune Responses. *Vaccine*. 2012;30:F83-F87. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.04.106
- 51. IARC HPV Working Group. *Primary End-Points for Prophylactic HPV Vaccine Trials*. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2014.
- 52. Beachler DC, Jenkins G, Safaeian M, Kreimer AR, Wentzensen N. Natural Acquired Immunity Against Subsequent Genital Human Papillomavirus Infection: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Infect Dis.* 2016;213(9):1444-1454. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiv753

- 53. Rosillon D, Baril L, Rosario-Raymundo MRD, et al. Risk of newly detected infections and cervical abnormalities in adult women seropositive or seronegative for naturally acquired HPV-16/18 antibodies. *Cancer Medicine*. 2019;8(10):4938-4953. doi:10.1002/cam4.1879
- 54. Petrosky E, Bocchini JA, Hariri S, et al. Use of 9-Valent Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Vaccine: Updated HPV Vaccination Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2015;64(11):300-304.
- 55. Kreimer AR, Struyf F, Del Rosario-Raymundo MR, et al. Efficacy of fewer than three doses of an HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine: Combined analysis of data from the Costa Rica Vaccine and PATRICIA trials. *The Lancet Oncology*. 2015;16(7):775-786. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00047-9
- 56. Safaeian M, Porras C, Pan Y, et al. Durable Antibody Responses Following One Dose of the Bivalent Human Papillomavirus L1 Virus-Like Particle Vaccine in the Costa Rica Vaccine Trial. *Cancer Prevention Research*. 2013;6(11):1242-1250. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0203
- 57. Iversen OE, Miranda MJ, Ulied A, et al. Immunogenicity of the 9-valent HPV Vaccine Using 2-Dose Regimens in Girls and Boys Vs A 3-Dose Regimen in Women. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*. 2016;316(22):2411-2421. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.17615
- 58. Block SL, Nolan T, Sattler C, et al. Comparison of the Immunogenicity and Reactogenicity of a Prophylactic Quadrivalent Human Papillomavirus (Types 6, 11, 16, and 18) L1 Virus-Like Particle Vaccine in Male and Female Adolescents and Young Adult Women. *Pediatrics*. 2006;118(5):2135-2145. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-0461
- 59. D'Addario M, Redmond S, Scott P, et al. Two-dose schedules for human papillomavirus vaccine: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Vaccine*. 2017;35(22):2892–2901. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.096
- Basu P, Muwonge R, Bhatla N, et al. Two-dose recommendation for Human Papillomavirus vaccine can be extended up to 18 years – updated evidence from Indian follow-up cohort study. *Papillomavirus Research*. 2019;7:75-81. doi:10.1016/J.PVR.2019.01.004
- 61. Bhatla N, Nene BM, Joshi S, et al. Are two doses of human papillomavirus vaccine sufficient for girls aged 15–18 years? Results from a cohort study in India. *Papillomavirus Research*. 2018;5(September 2017):163-171. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2018.03.008
- 62. LaMontagne DS, Thiem VD, Huong VM, Tang Y, Neuzil KM. Immunogenicity of Quadrivalent HPV Vaccine Among Girls 11 to 13 Years of Age Vaccinated Using Alternative Dosing Schedules: Results 29 to 32 Months After Third Dose. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2013;208(8):1325-1334. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit363
- 63. Einstein MH, Baron M, Levin MJ, et al. Comparison of the immunogenicity and safety of Cervarix™ and Gardasil® human papillomavirus (HPV) cervical cancer vaccines in healthy women aged 18–45 years. *Human Vaccines*. 2009;5(10):705-719. doi:10.4161/hv.5.10.9518

- 64. Gilca V, Sauvageau C, Panicker G, et al. Long intervals between two doses of HPV vaccines and magnitude of the immune response: A post-hoc analysis of two clinical trials. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*. 2019;0(0):21645515.2019.1605278-21645515.2019.1605278. doi:10.1080/21645515.2019.1605278
- 65. Dehlendorff C, Sparén P, Baldur-Felskov B, et al. Effectiveness of varying number of doses and timing between doses of quadrivalent HPV vaccine against severe cervical lesions. *Vaccine*. 2018;36(43):6373–6378. doi:10.1016/J.VACCINE.2018.09.011
- 66. Romanowski B, Schwarz TF, Ferguson LM, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine administered as a 2-dose schedule compared to the licensed 3-dose schedule. *Human Vaccines*. 2011;7(12):1374-1386. doi:10.4161/hv.7.12.18322
- 67. Widdice LE, Unger ER, Panicker G, et al. Antibody responses among adolescent females receiving two or three quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccine doses at standard and prolonged intervals. *Vaccine*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.12.042
- 68. Lamb F, Herweijer E, Ploner A, et al. Timing of two versus three doses of quadrivalent HPV vaccine and associated effectiveness against condyloma in Sweden: A nationwide cohort study. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(6):1-7. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015021
- 69. Clarke M. History of evidence synthesis to assess treatment effects: Personal reflections on something that is very much alive. *J R Soc Med.* 2016;109(4):154-163. doi:10.1177/0141076816640243
- 70. Aromataris E, Munn Z. *Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewer's Manual*. The Joanna Briggs Institute; 2017. https://reviewersmanual.joannabriggs.org/.
- 71. Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.0 (Updated July 2019).* 6th ed. Cochrane; 2019. www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- 72. Mulrow CD. Systematic Reviews: Rationale for systematic reviews. *BMJ*. 1994;309(6954):597-599. doi:10.1136/bmj.309.6954.597
- 73. O'Rourke K. An historical perspective on meta-analysis: dealing quantitatively with varying study results. *J R Soc Med.* 2007;100(12):579-582.
- 74. Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*. 2011;343. doi:10.1136/bmj.d5928
- 75. Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ*. 2016;355. doi:10.1136/bmj.i4919
- 76. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ*. 2008;336(7650):924–926. doi:10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.AD
- 77. Donken R, Knol MJ, Bogaards JA, Van Der Klis FRM, Meijer CJLM, De Melker HE. Inconclusive evidence for non-inferior immunogenicity of two- compared with three-dose

HPV immunization schedules in preadolescent girls: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of Infec*. 2015;71:61-73. doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2015.02.005

- 78. L.-M. H, T. P, C. C-H, et al. Sustained immunogenicity of 2-dose human papillomavirus 16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine schedules in girls aged 9-14 years: A randomized trial. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2017;215(11):1711-1719. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix154
- 79. Donken R, de Melker HE, Rots NY, Berbers G, Knol MJ. Comparing vaccines: A systematic review of the use of the non-inferiority margin in vaccine trials. *Vaccine*. 2015;33(12):1426-1432. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.01.072
- 80. Evaluation of Immunogenicity and Safety of Two 2-dose Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Vaccine Schedules in 9-14 Year Old Girls - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01381575. Accessed March 25, 2020.
- A Phase III Study of a 2-dose Regimen of a Multivalent Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Vaccine (V503), Administered to 9 to 14 Year-olds and Compared to Young Women, 16 to 26 Years Old (V503-010) - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01984697. Accessed March 25, 2020.
- 82. Drolet M, Deeks SL, Kliewer E, Musto G, Lambert P, Brisson M. Can high overall human papillomavirus vaccination coverage hide sociodemographic inequalities? An ecological analysis in Canada. *Vaccine*. 2016;34(16):1874-1880. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.02.069
- 83. Smith LM, Brassard P, Kwong JC, Deeks SL, Ellis AK, Lévesque LE. Factors associated with initiation and completion of the quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccine series in an ontario cohort of grade 8 girls. *BMC Public Health*. 2011;11(1):645. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-645
- 84. Petersen LK, Restrepo J, Moreira ED, et al. Impact of baseline covariates on the immunogenicity of the 9-valent HPV vaccine A combined analysis of five phase III clinical trials. *Papillomavirus Research*. 2017;3:105-115. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2017.03.002
- 85. Meader N, King K, Llewellyn A, et al. A checklist designed to aid consistency and reproducibility of GRADE assessments: development and pilot validation. *Syst Rev.* 2014;3:82. doi:10.1186/2046-4053-3-82
- 86. Brotherton JML. Rationalizing the HPV vaccination schedule: A long road to a worthwhile destination. *Papillomavirus Res.* 2019;8. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2019.100190
- 87. Giannini S, Hanon E, Moris P, et al. Enhanced humoral and memory B cellular immunity using HPV16/18 L1 VLP vaccine formulated with the MPL/aluminium salt combination (AS04) compared to aluminium salt only. *Vaccine*. 2006;24(33-34):5937-5949. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.06.005
- Shrier I, Boivin J-F, Steele RJ, et al. Should Meta-Analyses of Interventions Include Observational Studies in Addition to Randomized Controlled Trials? A Critical Examination of Underlying Principles. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2007;166(10):1203-1209. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm189

- 89. Peinemann F, Tushabe DA, Kleijnen J. Using Multiple Types of Studies in Systematic Reviews of Health Care Interventions A Systematic Review. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(12). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085035
- 90. Bun R-S, Scheer J, Guillo S, Tubach F, Dechartres A. Meta-analyses frequently pooled different study types together: a meta-epidemiological study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 2020;118:18-28. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.10.013
- 91. Ruiz-Sternberg ÁM, Moreira ED, Restrepo JA, et al. Efficacy, immunogenicity, and safety of a 9-valent human papillomavirus vaccine in Latin American girls, boys, and young women. *Papillomavirus Research*. 2018;5:63-74. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2017.12.004

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Ovid Medline Search Strategy

#	Searches	Results	Annotations
1	(HPV or "Human Papillomavirus" or Papillomaviridae).ti,ab,kf. or exp Papillomaviridae/ or exp papillomavirus infections/pc	52663	
2	exp mass immunization/ or exp immunization/ or exp secondary immunization/ or immunization.ti,ab,kf.	217053	
3	Vaccin*.ti,ab,kf. or exp vaccination/ad, im or exp virus vaccine/	301028	
4	1 and (2 or 3)	12260	
5	exp papillomavirus vaccines/ad, im	3661	
6	((vaccin* adj3 (HPV or papillomavirus)) or (immuni#ation adj3 (HPV or papillomavirus))).ti,ab,kf.	9323	
7	4 or 5 or 6	12518	HPV vaccination
8	((vaccin* adj (schedul* or regimen* or "alternate schedul*" or "extended interval*" or "alternat* vaccination scheme*" or "dose interval*" or timing)) or immuni#ation schedul*).ti,ab,kf.	6077	
9	exp immunization schedule/ or exp time factors/	1165354	
10	7 and (8 or 9)	782	scheduling/timing
11	exp immunogenicity, vaccine/	936	
12	Immunogeni*.ti,ab,kf.	57093	
13	exp immunity, humoral/ or exp B-Lymphocytes/ or exp antibodies/ or exp antibodies, viral/ or exp antibodies, neutralizing/	859708	
14	("antibody response" or "B Lymphocyte*" or Bcell* or "B cell*" or humoral or antibod* or "geometric mean concentration*" or "geometric mean titer*" or "neutralizing antibod*").ti,ab,kf.	982553	
15	exp immunity, cellular/ or exp CD4-positive T-lymphocytes/ or exp T-lymphocytes/	392276	
16	("cellular immunity" or T-cell* or Tcell* or "T cell*" or "CD4-Positive T-Lymphocyte*" or T-Lymphocyte*).ti,ab,kf.	405999	
17	exp seroepidemiologic studies/	22389	
18	(seroprevalence or seropositi*).ti,ab,kf.	47770	
19	11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18	1723431	immunogenicity
20	(efficacy or effectiveness).ti,ab,kf.	1109127	
21	(inciden* or prevalen* or persisten* or "HPV infection" or "Human papillomavirus infection").ti,ab,kf.	1728386	
22	exp papillomavirus infections/ or exp prevalence/	300674	
23	exp Uterine Cervical Neoplasms/ or exp cervical intraepithelial neoplasia/	73159	
24	("Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia" or CIN* or "cervical cancer" or "Uterine Cervical Neoplasm*").ti,ab,kf.	156333	
25	exp vaginal neoplasms/ or exp vulvar neoplasms/	12382	
26	("vaginal cancer*" or "vulvar* cancer").ti,ab,kf.	2181	
27	exp anus diseases/ or exp Anus Neoplasms/ or exp condyloma acuminata/	12214	
28	("anal cancer*" or "Anus Neoplasm*" or condyloma or "condylomata acuminat*" or "wart*").ti,ab,kf.	18026	
29	("penile cancer*" or "penile neoplasm*").ti,ab,kf.	1702	
30	exp penile neoplasms/	5253	
31	exp neoplasms/ or exp carcinoma, squamous cell/	3190228	
32	(Neoplasm* or "Squamous Cell Carcinoma").ti,ab,kf.	340483	
33	exp Oropharyngeal Neoplasms/ or exp "Head and Neck Neoplasms"/	297000	
34	("oropharyngeal cancer*" or "oropharyngeal neoplasm*" or (head and neck cancer*)).ti,ab,kf.	27829	
35	20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34	5713145	efficacy or effectiveness
36	10 and (19 or 35)	653	HPV vaccine alternate schedule and immunogenicity/efficacy/effectiveness)
37	exp animals/ not humans.sh.	4597048	
38	HIV.ti,kf.	198790	
39	(cost-effectiv* or "cost analysis").ti,kf.	32552	
40	("vaccin* hesitan*" or belief* or uptake or "vaccin* accepta*" or "vaccin* delivery" or coverage or "vaccin* refusal" or "therapeutic vaccin*").ti.	101183	
41	(editorial or letter or comment or review).pt. or ("position paper" or review* or comment*).ti.	4435095	
42	("psychosocial factor*" or knowledge or attitude* or awareness or education or "health communication").ti.	230261	
43	37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42	9257493	
44	36 not 43	419	final

Appendix 2a: Risk of Bias Assessment for Gilca et al 2019

Domain	Judgement	Reason
Bias due to confounding	Moderate	36-96m participants all vaccine non-compliant while 6m all compliant HPV vaccination coverage lower among socially deprived individuals in Quebec judgement reduced to moderate to reflect potential for indication bias
Bias in selection of participants	Moderate	36-96m participants are non-compliant vaccinees who consented to second dose
		no data provided on the proportion of those who consented or characteristics relative to those who did not
		judgement reduced to moderate to reflect potential for volunteer bias
Bias in classification of interventions	Low	only assessed HPV types present in both vaccines (HPV6,11,16,18)
Bias due to deviations from intended interventions	Low	no deviation reported
Bias due to missing data	Low	no data of interest missing
Bias in measurement of outcomes	Low	objective ELISA measurement so antibody level with defined cutoff for positive
Bias in selection of the reported result	Low	none detected
Overall	Moderate	Possibly favours 36-96m if HPV exposure higher in this group

Appendix 2b: Risk of Bias Assessment for Lamb et al 2017

Domains	Judgement	Reason
Bias due to confounding	Moderate	authors suggest potential for unknown confounder as 8+m AGW IR unexpectedly higher 10-16 years age group is inadequate to control for effect of age age structure within 10-16 years group not compared for 8+m and 4-7m
Bias in selection of participants	Low	all database entries meeting predefined selection criteria included
Bias in classification of interventions	Low	intervention 8+m vs 4-7m defined and not amendable by knowledge of outcome
Bias due to deviations from intended interventions	Low	no cointerventions
Bias due to missing data	Low	database lacks outcomes for undiagnosed or untreated participants
		both 8+m and 4-7m participants were vaccinated and expected to have similar likelihood of healthcare access
Bias in measurement of outcomes	Low	outcome defined prior to identification in database records
Bias in selection of the reported result	Low	IR reported for each pre-specified time-interval
Overall bias	Moderate	Favours 4-7m

Outcome or sub-group			Cert	ainty Asses	sment			
	According to Protocol Population	Study Design	No. of Studies	Risk of Bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Certainty of Evidence
HPV6 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-las	st-dose							
				not	not	not	not	
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	778	RCT	1	serious	serious	serious	serious	high
Quadrivalent then Nonavalent					not	not		
(0, 36-96m vs 0, 6m)	204	Obs	1	serious	serious	serious	serious	low
HPV11 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-la	ast-dose							
			1	not	not	not	not	
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	779	RCT	-	serious	serious	serious	serious	high
Quadrivalent then Nonavalent						not		
(0, 36-96m vs 0, 6m)	204	Obs	1	serious	serious	serious	serious	low
HPV16 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-la	ast-dose							
Bivalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	794	RCT	2	not	not	not	not	high
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	809	RCT	-	serious	serious	serious	serious	
Quadrivalent then Nonavalent					not	not		
(0, 36-96m vs 0, 6m)	204	Obs	1	serious	serious	serious	serious	low

Appendix 3: Table of GRADE assessment of the evidence in this systematic review

Outcome or sub-group		v	Certa	ainty Asses	ssment			
	According to Protocol Population	Study Design	no. of Studies	Risk of Bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Certainty of Evidence
HPV18 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
Bivalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	817	RCT	2	not	not	not	not	
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	810	RCT	Z	serious	serious	serious	serious	high
Quadrivalent then Nonavalent (0, 36-96m vs 0, 6m)	204	Obs	1	serious	not serious	not serious	serious	low
HPV31 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	811	RCT	1	not serious	not serious	not serious	not serious	high
HPV33 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	813	RCT	1	not serious	not serious	not serious	not serious	high
HPV45 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	815	RCT	1	not serious	not serious	not serious	not serious	high

Appendix 3: Table of GRADE assessment of the evidence in this systematic review

Outcome or sub-group			Cert	ainty Asses	sment	nent Not serious serious not not not serious serious serious not not not serious serious serious not not not serious serious		
	According to Protocol Population	Study Design	no. of Studies	Risk of Bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Certainty of Evidence
HPV52 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	813	RCT	1	not serious	not serious	not serious	not serious	high
HPV58 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
Nonavalent vaccine (0, 12m vs 0, 6m)	805	RCT	1	not serious	not serious	not serious	not serious	high
Anogenital wart incidence								
					not	not		
Quadrivalent vaccine (0, 8+m vs 0, 4-7m)	13569	Obs	1	Serious	serious	serious	serious	low
Obs= observational study,								

Appendix 3: Table of GRADE assessment of the evidence in this systematic review

Appendix 4: Tables summarizing data used and relative effect measures generated

Table: Summary Data Table 1

Outcome or sub-group			Reported O	utcome Measure	Effect estimate	Certainty of							
	Population	ATPP/n	0, 7+m	0, 6 m	(95% CI)	Evidence							
HPV6 Seroconversion difference (%) at 1 month post-last-dose													
				F:257/258,									
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	257,521	257/257	M:263/263	0.19% (-1.28, 1.08)*	high							
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	31, 173	31/31	173/173	0.00% (-11.07, 2.18)	low							
	-												

HPV11 Seroconversion difference (%) at 1 month post-last-dose									
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	257,522	257/257	F: 258/258 <i>,</i> M:264/264	0.00% (-1.47, 0.73)*	high			
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	31, 173	31/31	173/173	0.00% (-11.07, 2.18)	low			

Table: Summary Data Table 2

Outcome or sub-group		Νο ΔΤΡΡ	Reported Outcome Measure		Effect estimate	Certainty of
	Population	7+m, 6m	0, 7+m	0, 6 m	(95% CI)	Evidence
HPV16 Seroconversion difference (%) at 1 month post-last-dose						
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	339, 455	339/339	455/455	0.00% (-1.12, 0.84)	high
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	264, 545	264/264	F: 272/272, M:273/273	0.00% (-1.44, 0.70)*	
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	31, 173	31/31	173/173	0.00% (-11.07, 2.18)	low
HPV16 Seropositivity difference 2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	e (%) at 6 months p F 9-14 yrs	oost-lastdose 339, 455	339/339	455/455	0.00% (-1.12, 0.84)	high
HPV16 Seropositivity difference	(%) at 12 months	post-last-dose				
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	337, 453	337/337	453/453	0.00% (-1.13, 0.84)	high

		No. ATPP	Reported Outcome Measure		Effect estimate	Certainty of	
Outcome or sub-group	Population	7+m, 6m	0, 7+m	0, 6 m	(95% CI)	Evidence	
HPV18 Seroconversion difference	(%) at 1 month post-la	ast-dose					
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	355 <i>,</i> 462	355/355	455/462	1.52% (0.44, 3.10)	high	
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	266, 544	266/266	F: 272/272, M: 272/272	0.00% (-1.43, 0.70)*		
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	31, 173	31/31	173/173	0.00% (-11.07, 2.18)	low	
HPV18 Seropositivity difference (% 2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	6) at 6 months post-la F 9-14 yrs	st-dose 355, 462	355/355	455/462	1.52% (0.44, 3.10)	high	
2V vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m) F 9-14 yrs 355,402 355/355 455/462 1.52% (0.44, 3.10) high HPV18 Seropositivity difference (%) at 12 months post-last-dose 2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m) F 9-14 yrs 353,459 353/353 453/459 1.31% (0.22, 2.82) high							

					Effect estimate		
		No. ATPP	Reported O	utcome Measure	(95% CI).	Certainty of	
Outcome or sub-group	Population	7+m, 6m	0, 7+m	0, 6 m		Evidence	
HPV31 Seroconversion different	ence (%) at 1 month p	oost-last-dose					
				F:271/272,			
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	268, 543	268/268	M:271/271	0.18% (-1.23, 1.04)*	high	
HPV33 Seroconversion different	ence (%) at 1 month p	oost-last-dose					
				F:272/273,			
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	269,544	269/269	M:271/271	0.18% (-1.23, 1.03)*	high	
HPV45 Seroconversion different	ence (%) at 1 month p	oost-last-dose					
		260 647		F:272/274,			
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	208, 547	268/268	M:271/273	0.73% (-0.69, 1.87)*	high	
HPV52 Seroconversion different	ence (%) at 1 month p	oost-last-dose					
				F: 271/272, M:			
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	208, 545	268/268	273/273	0.18% (-1.23, 1.03)*	high	
HPV58 Seroconversion difference (%) at 1 month post-last-dose							
				F:270/270,			
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	265, 540	265/265	M:270/270	0.00% (-1.43, 0.71)*	high	
2v= bivalent vaccine, 4v=quadu	rivalent vaccine, 9v=1	nonavalent vacci	ine, ATPP= a	ccording-to-protoco	l; population, F= female	è,	
M=male, *=based on pooling d	ata for female and ma	les as a single 0	,6m group				

Table: Summary Data Table 5

		No. ATPP	Reported Outcome Measure		Effect estimate	Certainty of
Outcome or sub-group	Population	7+m, 6m	0, 7+m	0, 6 m	(95% CI)	Evidence
HPV6 Antibody Ratio at 1 mont	h post-last-do:	se				
	F & M	257,	2678.8	F:1657.9 (1479.6, 1857.6),		
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	9-14 yrs	258 + 263	(2390.2, 3002.1)	M: 1557.4 (1391.5, 1743.1)	1.67 (1.49 <i>,</i> 1.87)*	high
	F & M		1640.5			
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	9-14 yrs	31, 173	(1094.7, 2458.3)	1174.5 (1049.0, 1315.3)	1.40 (0.92, 2.13)	low
HPV11 Antibody Ratio at 1 mor	nth post-last-de	ose				
	F & M	257	2941 8	F [.] 1388 9 (1240 4 1555 3)		
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	9-14 yrs	258 + 264	(2626.6, 3294.9)	M: 1423.9 (1273.2, 1592.3)	2.09 (1.87, 2.34)*	high
	,		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		(, , ,	U
	F & M		374.7			
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	9-14 yrs	31, 173	(246.6, 569.1)	593.9 (527.7, 668.3)	0.63 (0.41, 0.97)	low
2v = bivalent vaccine, 4v = quadriv	alent vaccine.	9v= nonavale	nt vaccine. ATPP=	according-to-protocol: populat	tion. F= female.	

		No. ATPP	Reported Outcome	Measure	Effect estimate	Certainty of			
Outcome or sub-group	Population	7+m, 6m	0, 7+m	0, 6 m	(95% CI)	Evidence			
HPV16 Antibody Ratio at 1 mor	HPV16 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
			11329.4	9402.9					
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	339 <i>,</i> 455	(10509.3, 12213.5)	(8792.4, 10055.8)	1.20 (1.09, 1.33)	high			
				F: 8004.9 (7160.5, 8948.8),					
	F & M	264,	14329.3	M: 8474.8 (7582.4,					
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	9-14 yrs	272 + 264	(12796.4, 16045.9)	9472.3)	1.74 (1.55 <i>,</i> 1.95)*				
	F & M		405.5	375.9					
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	9-14 yrs	31, 173	(271.6, 605.3)	(334.6, 422.2)	1.08 (0.71,1.63)	low			
HPV16 Antibody Ratio at 6 mor	nths post-last	-dose							
			3248.2	2653.5					
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	339 <i>,</i> 455	(2974.2 <i>,</i> 3547.4)	(2473.5, 2846.6)	1.22 (1.09, 1.37)	high			
HPV16 Antibody Ratio at 12 mc	onths post-las	t-dose							
	•		2191	1730.7					
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	337, 453	(2003.9 <i>,</i> 2395.5)	(1608.6, 1862.0)	1.27 (1.13 <i>,</i> 1.42)	high			

2v= bivalent vaccine, 4v=quadrivalent vaccine, 9v= nonavalent vaccine, ATPP= according-to-protocol; population, F= female, M=male, *=based on pooling data for female and males as a single 0,6m group

Table: Summary Data Table 7

			Reported Outcome Measure			
		No. ATPP			Effect estimate	of
Outcome or sub-group	Population	7+m, 6m	0, 7+m	0, 6 m	(95% CI)	Evidence
HPV18 Antibody Ratio at 1 mor	nth post-last-dose	2				
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	355, 462	6580 (6075.8, 7126.0)	5935.6 (5519.4, 6383.3)	1.11 (1.00, 1.23)	high
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	266, 272 + 272	2810.4 (2474.9, 3191.3)	F: 1872.8 (1651.6, 2123.6), M: 1860.9 (1641.1, 2110.2)	1.51 (1.33, 1.71)*	
4v then 9v (0,36-96m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	31, 173	552.9 (348.5, 877.2)	525.2 (470.1, 586.8)	1.05 (0.65, 1.69)	low
HPV18 Antibody Ratio at 6 mor	nths post-last-dos	e				
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	355, 462	1860.3 (1699.4, 2036.4)	1523.6 (1403.7, 1653.7)	1.22 (1.08, 1.38)	high
HPV18 Antibody Ratio at 12 mo	onths post-last-do	ose				
2v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F 9-14 yrs	353, 459	1174.7 (1067.1, 1293.2)	864.6 (793.1, 942.7)	1.35 (1.19, 1.55)	high

Table: Summary Data Table 8

		Reported Outcome Measure						
Outcome or sub-group	Population	No. ATPP 7+m. 6m	0. 7+m	0. 6 m	Effect estimate (95% Cl)	Certainty of Evidence		
HPV31 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	268, 272 +271	2117.5 (1873.7, 2393.1)	F: 1436.3 (1272.1, 1621.8), M: 1498.2 (1326.5, 1692.0)	1.44 (1.28, 1.63)*	high		
HPV33 Antibody Ratio at 1 mc	onth post-last	-dose						
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	269 <i>,</i> 273 + 271	2197.5 (1961.9, 2461.3)	F: 1030.0 (920.4, 1152.7), M: 1040 (928.9, 1164.3)	2.12 (1.9, 2.38)*	high		
HPV45 Antibody Ratio at 1 month post-last-dose								
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	268, 274 + 273	417.7 (365.9 <i>,</i> 476.9)	F: 357.6 (313.7, 407.6), M: 352.3 (309.0, 401.7)	1.18 (1.03, 1.34)	high		

Outcome or sub-group	Population	No. ATPP 7+m, 6m	Reported Outcom 0, 7+m	e Measure 0, 6 m	Effect estimate (95% CI)	Certainty of Evidence
HPV52 Antibody Ratio at 1 mor	nth post-last-de	ose				
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	268, 272 +273	1123.4 (1008.1, 1251.9)	F: 581.1 (521.9, 647.1), M: 640.4 (575.2, 713)	1.84 (1.65, 2.05)*	high
HPV58 Antibody Ratio at 1 mor	nth post-last-d	ose				
9v vaccine (0,12m vs 0,6m)	F & M 9-14 yrs	265 <i>,</i> 270 + 270	2444.6 (2185.2, 2734.9)	F: 1251.2 (1119.6, 1398.4), M: 1325.7 (1186.2,1481.6)	1.90 (1.70, 2.12)*	high
Incidence rate difference of An	ogenital warts					
4v vaccine (0, 8+m vs 0, 4-7m)	F 10-16 yrs	1894, 8095	351 (168, 737)	84 (66, 108)	256.21 (-12.11, 524.53) [#]	low
	F 17-19 yrs	615, 2965	603 (271, 1343)	154 (69, 344)	448.62 (-49.41, 946.64) [#]	

Appendix 5: References for Publications Included in Systematic Review

1. Bivalent study

A Phase III Study of a 2-dose Regimen of a Multivalent Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Vaccine (V503), Administered to 9 to 14 Year-olds and Compared to Young Women, 16 to 26 Years Old (V503-010) - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01984697. Accessed March 25, 2020.

2. Nonavalent study

Evaluation of Immunogenicity and Safety of Two 2-dose Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Vaccine Schedules in 9-14 Year Old Girls - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01381575. Accessed March 25, 2020.

3 Gilca et al 2019

Gilca V, Sauvageau C, Panicker G, et al. Long intervals between two doses of HPV vaccines and magnitude of the immune response: A post-hoc analysis of two clinical trials. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*. 2019;0(0):21645515.2019.1605278-21645515.2019.1605278. doi:10.1080/21645515.2019.1605278

4. Lamb et al 2017

Lamb F, Herweijer E, Ploner A, et al. Timing of two versus three doses of quadrivalent HPV vaccine and associated effectiveness against condyloma in Sweden: A nationwide cohort study. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(6):1-7. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015021